# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**RECEIVED** 

04-02-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent, v. Appeal No. 2017AP002253 DUSTIN CHARLES YENTER Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM AN OWI 1<sup>ST</sup> OFFENSE AND PAC 1<sup>ST</sup> OFFENSE CONVICTION ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY THE HONORABLE DALE T. PASELL, PRESIDING BRIEF OF DUSTIN C. YENTER

Respectfully submitted, John Matousek Attorney for Defendant Matousek, Laxton & Davis Law Office 112 W. Oak Street Sparta, WI 54656 (608) 269-0501 State Bar No.: 1009195

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### · COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

#### ISSUE

1. Did the trial court erroneously deny the defendant's request to give a jury instruction of coercion?

The trial court answered no.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant believes that the Court can decide the issues based on the briefs and the need for oral argument is not necessary in this matter. Furthermore, publication is most likely not warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.23.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with operating while intoxicated 1<sup>st</sup> offense and operating with prohibited alcohol concentration 1<sup>st</sup> offense arising from an incident on December 12, 2015. The defendant was going to a party at Joe Yoder's house with his girlfriend, Jessica Vandervort and his friend, Michael VonHaden out in the county in Wilton. They left from the defendant's house and had trouble finding Yoder's house, so when they were on their way there, they pulled off to the side of the road in an effort to try to figure it out. Shortly thereafter, a car pulled up next to them. The people in the car indicated that they were going to the same party and to follow them. The defendant and VonHaden had been to Yoder's house one other time roughly a month before this party. When they went to Yoder's house the month before, they came from VonHaden's house and found it much easier to find.

The plan for the three was to stay the night at the party. They stayed the night at the last party they were at a month ago as well. Since they were staying the night

there, they began drinking alcohol once they arrived. The defendant, VonHaden and Vandervort had no intentions of leaving the party until the next morning. After being at the party for some time, a fight broke out and Tim Schmitz, a friend of theirs, was punched repeatedly and brought down to the ground very violently. People began threatening the defendant, VonHaden and Vandervort. At this time, the defendant found out that a guy came after VonHaden, took VonHaden to the ground and smashed him over the head with a beer bottle, and then VonHaden was thrown down a flight of stairs.

The defendant and Vandervort then ran outside and called VonHaden's name. VonHaden came out and they all ran to the car together as approximately 15-20 people from the party came chasing after them. The defendant got into the driver's seat as it was his vehicle and when the three ran to the vehicle, the defendant was the one with the keys in his pocket. They had no time to decide who was driving or to give the keys to someone else. Since the defendant had the keys, he felt that he had to drive.<sup>1</sup> They were able to get into the car, but the people from the party surrounded the defendant's car immediately after they got inside and began beating/denting it with rocks as well as their hands, the roof was getting smashed in and the individuals were kicking the tail lights out and they damaged the driver's side mirror. They thought that the individuals were going to tip the car over and were also fearful that their goal was to gain access to the inside of the car. The three were certain that if these individuals did gain access to the inside of the car, they would suffer great bodily harm or death. These three knew that they couldn't stay and attempt to fight 15-20 people when there was only three of them. Furthermore, Vandervort is a petite female and was the defendant's girlfriend at the time and therefore, he felt a need to keep her protected. The individuals that were standing in front of the car all of a sudden moved and the three inside the vehicle saw a man pick up a huge rock and come towards the car with it. They then drove away in a panic and their plan was to get somewhere safe which was the defendant's house as no one at the party knew where he lived.

The defendant took main roads (when he could) on the way home because he was not trying to hide out, he was just trying to get back to a place of safety as quickly as possible. However, there appeared at least one cell phone with the three. This was not used because of the spotty service of Verizon in that area. The defendant, along with VonHaden and Vandervort, felt as though they were in imminent danger and they knew that the fear would not stop until they got to the defendant's home and locked all of the doors. <sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Offer of proof from Defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Offer of proof from VonHaden

While driving to Yenter's house, they continued to be very fearful the entire way. The defendant was constantly checking his rearview mirror. VonHaden was notifying the defendant anytime he saw headlights. A state trooper then pulled them over about half a mile away from the defendant's house due to the back taillights not being activated. The inactivation of the taillights was a direct result of the individuals damaging the car at the party. Law enforcement, after having stopped the defendant's vehicle, was told by the defendant about what happened at the party, and the damage done to the vehicle. VonHaden was allowed to drive the car after the defendant was arrested for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated 1<sup>st</sup> offense.

The defendant attempted to assert the privilege defense of coercion based on the facts. The trial court denied the instruction of coercion at an oral ruling hearing the morning before the jury trial. <sup>3</sup> A court trial was then held, rather than a jury trial based on that pretrial ruling, and the defendant was found guilty of OWI 1<sup>st</sup> offense and PAC 1<sup>st</sup> offense.<sup>4 5</sup> The defendant now appeals the trial court's pretrial ruling denying his request to give a jury instruction of coercion to the jury members.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The defendant should have been entitled to assert a privilege defense of coercion.

The defendant is attempting to assert the privilege defense of coercion. This defense is based on the theory that the individuals at the party forced him to get into his car and drive away as he and the two others whom he was with feared that they would suffer great bodily harm or death if they stayed.

A specialized standard of review is used when considering a trial court's decision to prevent a defendant from asserting a particular defense. To be entitled to assert a defense, the defendant has the initial burden of production. *State v. Staples,* 99 Wis.2d 364, 299 N.W.2d 270 (Ct. App. 1980). To meet the burden of production, the defendant must show that a reasonable construction of the evidence supports his defense. *State v. Coleman,* 206 Wis.2d 199, 213, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996). The Court must view the evidence is a light most favorable to the defendant. *Johnson v. State,* 85 Wis.2d 22, 270 N.W.2d 153 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Oral ruling and court trial transcript pages 11-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Oral ruling and court trial transcript page 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Minutes from Court Trial

Wis. Stat. §939.45 provides us with circumstances in which such a defense may be claimed:

- 1. Coercion or Necessity
- 2. Self-defense
- 3. Fulfilling the duties of public office
- 4. The reasonable accomplishment of a lawful arrest
- 5. Parental discipline
- 6. Where otherwise provided by statutory or common law

Coercion is a threat by a person other than the actor's coconspirator which causes the actor to reasonably believe that his act is the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm to the actor or another and which causes him to act is a defense to a prosecution for any crime based on that act. Wis. Stat. \$939.45(1), \$939.46(1).

In order for the defendant to assert the defense of coercion, he would have to show that a reasonably jury could conclude:

- 1. He was threatened by a person other than a coconspirator
- 2. He reasonably believed that he was in danger of death or great bodily harm
- 3. The harm was imminent
- 4. He reasonably believed that violating the law was the only means of preventing the harm
- 5. The threat of harm caused him to act as he did

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the burden is on the State to disprove an asserted coercion defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Moses v. State,* 91 Wis.2d 756, 284 N.W.2d 66 (1979). Here, testimony would have been given at trial confirming that the defendant and VonHaden were in fact threatened by <u>several</u> individuals who could not be described as "co-conspirators". Further testimony would have shown that the defendant along with VonHaden and Vandervort reasonably believed that they were in danger of death or great bodily harm. The testimony would have indicated that another friend of theirs was beaten up by one of the individuals at the party and then a beer bottle was smashed over the head of VonHaden when attempting to intervene which caused him to run, hide, and fear for his life.

Furthermore, the harm was clearly imminent as the individuals at the party were making imminent threats and smashed a beer bottle over VonHaden's head. Once VonHaden, Yenter, and Vandervort found each other, they took off running to Yenter's car as they feared they were in danger of death or great bodily harm. Considering that the individuals ran after them and then began to do extreme and serious damage to the defendant's vehicle, there is no question that the harm was imminent.

Once the defendant, VonHaden and Vandervort were all inside the vehicle, the individuals began attacking the car. The defendant, Vandervort, and VonHaden believed that they were going to tip the car over or get access to the inside of the car. They felt the only choice was to drive away before either of those things happened. Therefore, the defendant (and the two others in the vehicle) reasonably believed that violating the law was the only means of preventing the harm and the threat of this harm caused him to get into the vehicle and drive. Driving home, given the area, was a reasonable decision and that the imminent harm did not dissipate because of the magnitude of the threat and damage.

An accused is entitled to a jury instruction if evidence has been produced to support a particular defense. *Bodner v. State*, 752 A.2d 1169 (Del. Supr. 2000). Yenter argues the evidence shows that he was confronted with a situation that caused him to either suffer great bodily harm or death, or drive while under the influence. A rational trier of fact could conclude that the situation that they were in constitutes an imminent danger and therefore, driving while under the influence is justified. However, the credibility of the defendant's testimony along with VonHaden and Vandervort's testimony, in regard to all aspects, was for the jury to determine.

The State will argue that this is a strict liability matter and therefore, privilege defenses are to be restrictively applied. In order to apply a privilege defense, the defendant must satisfy the five-part test set forth above. However, the five part test is satisfied and therefore, the defendant is entitled to the privilege defense. The parties do not dispute that sec. 346.63(1)(a) and 346.63(1)(b) establishes a "strict liability" civil offense since these violations are first offenses. Therefore, the State believes that a first offense of sec. 346.63(1)(a) and (1)(b) creates not only a strict liability offense in the sense that the statute eliminates proof of defendant's state of mind but also creates an absolute liability offense in the sense that every violation of the literal terms of the statutes renders the offender guilty without exception. The State further believes that the doing of the proscribed act constitutes the wrong and the moral turpitude (scienter or state of mind) or purity of motive (justification) which prompts the proscribed act are not material to the question of guilt. The State's position is supported by the Legislature's failure to specify any defenses to the offense. State v. Brown, 107 Wis. 2d 44, 318 N.W.2d 370 (1982).

However, the Supreme Court concluded in *Brown*, that "recognizing a defense of legal justification does not necessarily conflict with the concept that violation of a

traffic law is a strict liability offense. The basic concept of strict liability is that culpability is not an element of the offense and that the state is relieved of the burdensome task of proving the offender's culpable state of mind. When the defendant in the case at bar claims legal justification, he is not seeking to disprove a statutorily required state of mind. Instead he is claiming that even though he knowingly violated the law, his violation was privileged under the circumstances." *Id at State v. Brown.* 

*Brown* goes on to further state that "[w]hile the original rationalization of the defenses of self-defense, coercion, necessity and entrapment "may have been based on the notion that moral culpability was absent . . . the real basis for the defenses is that the conduct is justified because it preserves or has a tendency to preserve some greater social value at the expense of a lesser one in a situation where both cannot be preserved. *Moes v. State*, 91 Wis. 2d 756, 768, 284 N.W.2d 66 (1979)."

Brown further states "[i]f we were to consider only the 'scienter' aspect of strict liability we might conclude that the defendant's claim of legal justification does not relate to scienter, and we would recognize the defense of legal justification. But we must go further. We must, in determining whether to recognize the defenses claimed, consider the reason scienter is eliminated as an element of the offense. One of the objectives of the legislature in adopting the concept of strict liability in statutes designed to control conduct of many people, such as operating motor vehicles is to assure the quick and efficient prosecution of large numbers of violators. Where the conduct is harmful and the number of prosecutions anticipated is large, the legislature will often define the offense in such a way as to avoid the need for lengthy trials. Although the claimed defenses, if allowed in prosecutions of strict liability offenses, may not relate to scienter, they do impair the case with which these cases are processed. Consequently when determining whether we should recognize any defenses to a strict liability traffic offense, we must determine whether the public interest in efficient enforcement of the traffic law is outweighed by other public interests which are protected by the defenses claimed." Id at State v. Brown. Furthermore, there are many public interests protected by the defense of coercion. The rationale of the defenses of coercion (and necessity) is that for reasons of social policy it is better to allow the defendant to violate the law (a lesser evil) to avoid death or great bodily harm (a greater evil) of himself and others. Id at State v. Brown.

The privilege defense of coercion is appropriate when the evidence reflects a situation where someone must decide to commit an act if a threat by another person (other than the defendant's co-conspirator) caused the defendant to believe that his act was the only means of preventing [imminent public disaster]

[imminent death or great bodily harm to himself (or to others)] and which pressure caused him to act as he did. The State will argue that once the defendant left the party, he had reached a "point of safety" and was under an obligation to stop driving. However, testimony at trial would have shown that the three did not feel that they were at a "point of safety" at all while driving. The three individuals felt as though someone was following them the entire way which caused them to keep driving and because of that, they planned to keep driving until they got back to the defendant's home. The State will further argue that there were businesses (i.e. taverns, gas stations, etc.) on the way to the defendant's home that they could have stopped at to get help instead of continuing to the drive to the defendant's home. However, the defendant, VonHaden and Vandervort did not want to stop at one of these businesses out of fear that someone from the party was following them and they would follow them into the business that they stopped at. All three of them thought the safest thing for them to do was get to the defendant's home, go inside and lock all of the doors.

Lastly, the State will argue that the defendant, VonHaden or Vandervort could have used a cell phone to call for help since it is likely that three young individuals would have at least one cell phone on them. All three individuals would have testified that the area that they were in for a majority of the car ride caused them to not have enough service to make a phone call. This argument is merely a red herring as making a phone call to the police out in this rural area does not decrease the imminent nature of the harm.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, it is ultimately for the jury to decide whether the defendant reasonably believed that violating the law was the only means of preventing the harm. The trial court was in error by prohibiting the introduction of such evidence of the privilege of coercion.

For the reasons set forth above, the defendant-appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse and remand for a jury trial at the trial court.