## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

# **RECEIVED**

06-14-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

\_\_\_\_\_

Case No. 2017AP002253

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DUSTIN CHARLES YENTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER IN MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DALE PASELL PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

\_\_\_\_\_

SARAH M. SKILES Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1093720

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Monroe County District Attorney 112 South Court Street Room 2400 Sparta, Wisconsin 54656 (608) 269-8780 monroe.call@da.wi.gov

##

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Was the defendant entitled to assert the defense of coercion at trial for civil traffic forfeitures for Operating While Intoxicated and Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration?

The circuit court answered **no.** 

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiff-Respondent anticipates the issue raised in this appeal can be fully addressed by the briefs. Accordingly, Plaintiff-Respondent is not requesting oral argument. Further, publication is not warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Defendant-Appellant, Dustin Yenter, received companion citations for two civil traffic offenses, Operating While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense) (OWI) and Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (1<sup>st</sup> Offense) (PAC), for an incident on December 12, 2015. The matters were scheduled for jury trial on November 1 and 2, 2017. In advance of trial, the State filed motions in limine seeking to prohibit Yenter from asserting a privilege defense at trial (14: ¶¶ 11-12).

The circuit court initially took the motions up at the final pretrial conference (44). At that final pre-trial conference, Yenter indicated he sought to invoke the defense of coercion under Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1) (44:6-7, 13-15).

The circuit court subsequently heard oral arguments on the motions on a later date (45). At the conclusion of the oral arguments, the circuit court ruled the coercion defense might be available to the defense if the facts supported the elements of the instruction, and the court ordered Yenter to provide an offer of proof by way of affidavit (45: 27-32). Yenter filed three affidavits as his offer of proof (26).

The following is a summary of the evidence Yenter alleged in his offer of proof to the circuit court:

Yenter was at a party at Joe Yoder's residence with Mike VonHaden and Jessica Vandervort. The residence was located in the country.

A violent "riot" involving 15-20 people started. Yenter and VonHaden observed a friend being violently beaten. VonHaden was hit in the head with a bottle and thrown down a flight of stairs. Yenter, VonHaden, and Vandervort fled the residence and got into Yenter's vehicle.

Once they entered the vehicle, a group surrounded Yenter's vehicle and began to damage it. When the group moved, Yenter drove off. Yenter intended to drive to his residence because no one from the party knew where he lived.

At some point as Yenter drove, a single vehicle came behind him and he "assumed" it was someone from the party following him. Yenter passed public places near Oakdale but did not stop for help.

After Yenter's arrest, law enforcement permitted VonHaden to drive the vehicle from the scene after he submitted to a Preliminary Breath Test (PBT). Yenter was uncertain if he had his cellphone on him, but VonHaden did have a cellphone in his possession on the night of the incident.

Upon receipt of Yenter's offer of proof, the State filed a letter brief arguing Yenter should be prohibited from asserting the coercion defense at trial because Yenter had not established facts sufficient to justify the instruction (27).

The circuit court ruled Yenter was not entitled to assert the coercion defense at trial because Yenter failed to present evidence demonstrating that he reasonably believed the only means to escape imminent threat of death or great bodily harm was to drive intoxicated (46: 13-15). In reaching its conclusion, the court relied on: the three affidavits submitted by Yenter (26), the parties' stipulation that the distance from Yoder's residence to the location of the traffic stop was approximately 16 miles (46: 7-8, 13), and judicial notice of the homes along the route Yenter traveled (46: 9, 13).

The circuit court ruled under the objective-reasonable man test there were numerous opportunities for Yenter to seek another form of protection "or done something else that would have allowed [him] to engage in conduct that didn't result in a drunk driver driving down the road" and further concluded the danger Yenter faced dissipated over time (46: 13-14, 15).

Following the ruling, a stipulated court trial was held and Yenter was found guilty of both citations (46: 16-69).

Yenter now argues the circuit court erred in denying his assertion of the coercion defense.

### **ARGUMENT**

# THE COERCION DEFENSE WAS PROPERLY BARRED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT.

#### A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

The coercion defense allows a person to engage in conduct that would otherwise be criminal if the person reasonably believes that the conduct is "the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm" to the person or another person "and which causes him or her so to act." Wis. Stat. §§ 939.45(1), 939.46(1) (2016-17); Wis. JI-Criminal 790 (2016).

A person is entitled to assert the coercion defense if "(1) the defense relates to a legal theory of a defense, as opposed to an interpretation of evidence; (2) the request is timely made; (3) the defense is not adequately covered by other instructions; and (4) the defense is supported by sufficient evidence." *State v. Keeran*, 268 Wis.2d 761, 766, 674 N.W.2d 570 (Ct. App. 2003) (citation omitted).

"[E]vidence is sufficient if a reasonable construction of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the accused, supports the defendant's theory." *Id.* at 766 (citation omitted). Therefore, in order to be entitled to the defense, the defendant must show that a reasonable jury could conclude:

- 1. He was threatened by a person other than a coconspirator;
- 2. He reasonably believed he was in danger of death or great bodily harm;
- 3. The harm was imminent;
- 4. He reasonably believed violating the law was the only means of preventing the harm; and
- 5. The threat of the harm caused him to act as he did.

State v. Coleman, 206 Wis.2d 199, 214-15, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996).

While courts may not weigh the evidence, courts must ask "whether a reasonable construction of the evidence, viewed favorably to the defendant, supports the alleged defense." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A person seeking to assert a coercion defense has the burden of producing evidence to support the instruction. *Keeran*, 268 Wis.2d at 766. The State then carries the burden of persuasion in negating the defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Moes v. State*, 91 Wis.2d 756, 766, 284 N.W.2d 66 (1979).

This defense is limited to the "most severe form of inducement." *Keeran*, 268 Wis.2d at 766 (citation omitted). It requires a finding under an objective-reasonable person test that the person had no possible escape other than the commission of the criminal act. *Id.* The coercion defense is not a license to take the safest course. *Id.* at 770.

A circuit court has broad discretion to determine what instructions to submit to the jury and such determination should not be reversed absent an erroneous exercise of that discretion. *Coleman*, 206 Wis.2d at 212; *Johnson v. State*, 85 Wis.2d 22, 28-29, 270 N.W.2d 153 (1978) (trial court are not required to give requested instructions unless the evidence reasonably supports it). Privilege defenses such as coercion must be "applied restrictively [to strict liability crimes] so as not to undermine the objective of the statute." *State v. Dundon*, 226 Wis.2d 654, 665, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999). A defendant is not entitled to have jurors consider his theory of defense when there is no evidence to support it. *Id.* at 675.

# B. The statutory defense of coercion does not apply to civil charges of Operating While Intoxicated and Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration.

The statutorily-created defense of coercion may not be asserted in a civil forfeiture action for Operating While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense) and Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (1<sup>st</sup> Offense). Under Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1), coercion is "a defense to a prosecution for **any crime** based on that act, except that if the prosecution is for first-degree intentional homicide, the degree of the crime is reduced to 2nd-degree intentional homicide." (emphasis added).

In *State v. Brown*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held the defense of legal justification, such as coercion, could be raised in a civil speed violation matter in the limited circumstance in which the actions of the arresting officer caused the violation. 107 Wis.2d 44, 318 N.W.2d 370 (1982). However, the court expressly declined to decide whether a legal justification defense was available in a civil forfeiture action for speeding if the causative force of the violation was someone or something other than law enforcement. *Id.* at 56. The court explicitly

noted it was only deciding "that a defendant in a civil forfeiture action for speeding may claim that his violation of the law should be excused if it was caused by the state itself through the action of a law enforcement officer." *Id*.

The State is not aware of any Wisconsin authority extending *Brown* to a civil forfeiture action for Operating While Intoxicated or With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, nor to a civil forfeiture action where the causative force was something other than officer conduct, which is the situation in this case.

While the plain language Wis. Stat. 939.46(1) seems to arguably indicate the coercion defense would be available to a criminal Operating While Intoxicated or With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration charge, it also suggests that the defense is not available to civil forfeitures. If the legislature intended to apply the defense to civil forfeitures, it could have done so in the same manner in which it explicitly excepted homicide.

Wisconsin law does not provide for the statutorily-created defense of coercion to be applied in a civil forfeiture action for Operating While Intoxicated or With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. To allow this defense to be asserted in such actions would decrease the efficient enforcement of strict liability civil traffic offenses.

Therefore, the circuit properly denied the defendant's assertion of the coercion defense.

# C. The evidence was not sufficient to justify an instruction on the coercion defense.

If it is determined the statutory defense of coercion may be asserted in civil Operating While Intoxicated or With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration cases, the circuit court correctly determined Yenter was not permitted to assert the coercion defense as Yenter did not present sufficient evidence in support of the defense that would have allowed a jury, in reasonably construing the evidence, to determine that Yenter satisfied the five-part test.

More specifically, Yenter failed to meet his burden of producing sufficient evidence demonstrating that: 1) he reasonably believed he was in danger of "imminent death or great bodily harm" or 2) he reasonably believed driving while under the influence and in excess of

the legal limit was the "only means" of preventing death or great bodily harm.

# 1. The evidence did not sufficiently establish a reasonable belief of "imminent" death or great bodily harm.

A reasonable construction of the evidence does not support a finding that Yenter had a **reasonable** belief that he or another person were in danger of "imminent" death or great bodily harm.

"Imminent" is not defined in the applicable jury instruction, but the Wisconsin Supreme Court has examined its definition and cited Webster's Dictionary's definition with approval. *See State v. McCoy*, 143 Wis.2d 274, 287, 421 N.W.2d 107 (1988) (examining "imminent" in the context of the concealing a minor child charge). Webster's Dictionary defines "imminent" as "ready to take place; near at hand; hanging threateningly over one's head; menacingly near." *Id*.

The offer of proof alleges there was a large, violent altercation at a party so Yenter and his two companions left with Yenter driving his vehicle. The offer of proof further alleges Yenter was attempting to get to his residence and he was stopped by law enforcement approximately half a mile from his home. The record established Yenter drove approximately half an hour, approximately sixteen miles, from the party toward his residence.

There was no evidence any person followed or pursued Yenter from the party or even knew where Yenter lived. While there was some assertion Yenter was fearful someone from the party followed him, Yenter did not adequately develop that assertion. Yenter asserted he drove on main, rural roads and at "one point" saw headlights and he "assumed" it was someone from the party, but Yenter did not assert that vehicle drove at or near him in any sort of threatening or aggressive manner.

In order to be entitled to a coercion defense, Yenter was required to provide details explaining why he **reasonably** believed he or another were in "imminent" danger of death or great bodily harm. These details are lacking.

While Yenter **may** have had a reasonable belief of "imminent" death or great bodily harm when he immediately left the party, the facts

do not remotely support that Yenter and his companions were under a continuing threat of "imminent" death or great bodily harm.

Assuming, *arguendo*, Yenter's initial intoxicated driving from the party was excused under the defense of coercion, Yenter put forth no evidence that establishes how or why the imminency continued past the initial escape from the party.

Yenter drove for approximately half an hour, approximately sixteen miles, away from any threat. The lack of continuous threat is fatal to the imminency requirement. The distance traveled separated Yenter from any immediate threat and provided him ample opportunity to withdraw from his intoxicated driving and seek aid in another manner.

# 2. The evidence did not sufficiently establish a reasonable belief that violating the law was the "only means" of preventing death or great bodily harm.

A reasonable construction of the evidence also does not support a finding that Yenter had a **reasonable** belief that driving while intoxicated and with an alcohol concentration in excess of the legal limit was the "only means" of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm.

Yenter had viable alternatives. He could have pulled over and switched with his passenger after the initial flight from the party. After all, law enforcement permitted VonHaden to drive the vehicle away from the stop location after they gave him a roadside PBT following Yenter's arrest. Yenter could have stopped at a residence for help. Yenter could have stopped at public places in Oakdale and asked for help. Yenter or one of his two companions could have used a cellphone to call for help. Yenter could have parked his car and walked after his initial flight. Yenter could have stopped at any time throughout the approximate half hour, approximate sixteen miles, that he drove, but he did not.

Yenter's offer of proof does not provide sufficient justification or any explanation for why driving was his "only" means of preventing death or great bodily harm. It is unreasonable to drive miles past residences, public places, and various other means of support and safety. Thus, the circuit court properly concluded no reasonable jury could accept Yenter's only avenue to protect himself was to drive his vehicle.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should uphold the circuit court's ruling that Yenter was not entitled to assert the coercion defense at trial.

The coercion defense is a limited defense by design, and Yenter did not make a sufficient requisite showing of the essential elements of the defense so as to justify the defense being brought to the jury.

For the above reasons, the State respectfully requests this Court affirm the circuit court and affirm the judgment of conviction.